IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NEVADA COLLECTORS ASSOCIATION, a Nevada non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

v.

SANDY O'LAUGHLIN, in her official capacity as Commissioner of the State of Nevada Department of Business and Industry and Financial Institution Division; STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION; JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP; DOE DEFENDANTS 1 through 20; and ROE ENTITY DEFENDANTS 1 through 20, Supreme Court Case No.: 81930

District Court Case No.: A-19-805334-C Electronically Filed Sep 23 2021 02:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

JURISDICTION

Nevada Collectors Association ("NCA") (plaintiff below) appeals from an order granting motions to dismiss its amended complaint and denying its motion for preliminary injunction or, in the alternative, for a writ of mandamus or prohibition ("Lower Court Order"). NRAP 3A(b)(1), (3). Respondents (defendants below) served notice of entry of the Lower Court Order on September 10, 2020, and NCA filed a timely notice of appeal on October 8, 2020.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This Court should retain this appeal because it involves a constitutional challenge to recently enacted legislation and a local court rule. NRAP 17(a)(11)-(12). These issues involve constitutional questions, important questions of public policy, and are substantial issues of first-impressions. *Id*.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the combined effect of A.B. 477 and JCR 16 frustrates reasonable access to Nevada's justice courts in violation of the Due Process Clause.

2. Whether A.B. 477 irrationally and arbitrarily treats small businesses and debt collectors less favorably than banks and payday lenders in violation of the Equal Protection Clause.

3. Whether the lower court committed legal error by concluding that it was prohibited from considering matters outside of the pleadings when ruling on

Respondents' NRCP 12(b)(1) motions to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

4. Whether the lower court erred by finding that NCA lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of A.B. 477 and JCR 16.

5. Whether the lower court erred by finding that the case is not ripe for judicial review when NCA presented substantial and <u>undisputed</u> evidence establishing that an injury has already occurred.

6. Whether Respondent Las Vegas Township ("Justice Court") has "absolute immunity" in a lawsuit challenging the constitutionality of its local rules.

7. Whether the lower court erred by ruling on the merits of NCA's motion for a preliminary injunction when it already determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

8. Whether the lower court erred by denying NCA's motion for a preliminary injunction when the undisputed evidence demonstrates that NCA satisfies all of the preliminary injunction elements.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting motions to dismiss NCA's amended complaint and denying NCA's motion for a preliminary injunction and alternative

motion for a writ of mandamus or prohibition, the Honorable Nancy Alff, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, presiding.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. NCA promotes lawful consumer debt collection for its members.

Appellant NCA is a non-profit cooperative corporation whose members consist of small businesses such as collection agencies, law firms, and asset buying companies which engage in the business of collecting unpaid debt on consumer accounts that are past due or in default. 4 JA 594-95, 607-08. NCA's members collect monies on behalf of, for the account of, or as assignees of businesses that sell goods and/or services to consumers which are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. *Id.* Those debts vary in kind, including, but not limiting to, the following:

- a. Medical debt (including doctors, dentists, and labs);
- b. Utilities;
- c. Rent;
- d. Credit card and revolving debt;
- e. Cell phone debt;
- f. Automobile loans;
- g. Professional services provided on credit; and
- h. Installment loans governed by NRS Chapter 675.

4 JA 595.

Nearly all of NCA members' accounts receivable consist of unpaid small dollar consumer debts in amounts of \$5,000.00 or less ("Small Dollar Debts"). 4 JA 595, 608. NCA serves its members by, *inter alia*, acting as a voice in business, legal, regulatory and legislative matters. *Id*.

II. The legal obligations of NCA members and the mandatory venue provision of the FDCPA.

Many of NCA's members are debt collection companies licensed pursuant to NRS Chapter 649 by the State of Nevada Department of Business and Industry Financial Institutions Division (the "FID"). 4 JA 595, 608. The FID regulates and oversees the collection activities of its licensees, which include many of NCA's members, namely, collection agencies. *Id*.

In Nevada, any entity that recovers funds that are past due, or from accounts that are in default, is governed by NRS Chapter 649 and NAC Chapter 649. *See* NRS 649.020 (defining "collection agency" as "all persons engaging, directly or indirectly, and as a primary or a secondary object, business or pursuit, in the collection of or in soliciting or obtaining in any manner the payment of a claim owed or due or asserted to be owed or due to another."). NRS Chapter 649's stated purpose is to: "(a) [b]ring licensed collection agencies and their personnel under more stringent public supervision; (b) [e]stablish a system of regulation to ensure that persons using the services of a collection agency are properly represented; and (c)

[d]iscourage improper and abusive collection methods." NRS 649.045(2)(a)-(c). To that end, NRS Chapter 649 established a broad regulatory scheme that covers all aspects of collections practices.

The Nevada Legislature granted the FID and its Commissioner primary jurisdiction for the licensing and regulation of persons operating and/or engaging in collection services. *See generally* NRS Chapter 649. Indeed, in order to operate as a collection agency in the State of the Nevada, a collection agency must first submit an application and obtain a license from the Commissioner. NRS 649.075(1). And just as the Commissioner is empowered to grant a collection agency license to operate in the State of Nevada, the Commissioner can also administer fines to a collection agency and/or suspend or revoke such license, if it is found that a collection agency has violated a law prescribed to it. *See e.g.*, NRS 649.395. One of those laws is the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (the "FDCPA")—the main federal law that governs debt collection practices. 15 U.S.C. § 1692 *et seq*.

In general, the FDCPA prohibits debt collection companies from using abusive, unfair, or deceptive practices to collect consumer debts. *See id.* The stated purposes of the FCDPA is "to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses." 15 U.S.C. §

1692(e). Many of NCA's members are "debt collectors" within the meaning of the FDCPA and are therefore subject to its legal requirements. *See* 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6); 4 JA 595-96, 609. The FDCPA subjects debt collectors to civil liability for violations of the FDCPA. *Id.*; 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. Debt collectors are also subject to federal administrative enforcement for violations of the FDCPA. *Id.*; 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. Debt collectors are also commissioner authority to regulate collection agencies for violations of the FDCPA. *See* NRS 649.370. NRS 649.370 provides that "[a] violation of any provision of the federal [FDCPA], 15 U.S.C. § 1682 et seq., or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, shall be deemed to be a violation of this chapter." In other words, when a debt collector violates the FDCPA, it also violates NRS Chapter 649, and therefore falls within the jurisdiction of the FID.

Relevant here, the FDCPA broadly prohibits a debt collector from using "any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt." 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. This includes "litigation activity" and FDCPA violations may be found based on false allegations and requests contained in a complaint. *McCollough v. Johnson, Rodenburg & Lauinger*, LLC, 637 F.3d 939, 951 (9th Cir. 2011) ("[T]he FDCPA applies to the litigating activities of lawyers."); *Donohue v. Quick Collect, Inc.*, 592 F.3d 1027, 1032 (9th Cir. 2010) ("To limit the litigation activities that may form the basis of FDCPA liability to

exclude complaints served personally on consumers to facilitate debt collection, the very act that formally commences such a litigation, would require a nonsensical narrowing of the common understanding of the word 'litigation' that we decline to adopt."). Accordingly, by simply requesting attorney's fees in a complaint that are not authorized by law, collection agencies may be violating the FDCPA. *See id.* NAC 649.320 then empowers the Commissioner of the FID to suspend or revoke a license for such violations.

The FDCPA also has a mandatory venue provision (the "Mandatory Venue Provision") requiring a debt collector to commence a civil action for the repayment of a consumer debt in the judicial district or similar legal entity where: (a) the consumer signed the contract; or (b) the consumer resides at the time the suit is filed. 15 U.S.C. § 1692i(a)(2). NRS 4.370 confers jurisdiction upon justice courts to entertain any civil causes of action in matters in which the amount in controversy does not exceed \$15,000.00. Because NCA members' accounts receivable generally consist of unpaid Small Dollar Debts, NCA members must file lawsuits in justice courts to collect on unpaid debts. 4 JA 596, 609. To the extent a consumer debt falls within the Mandatory Venue Provision of the FDCPA and requires the commencement of a civil action in Las Vegas, Nevada, a debt collector is legally required to commence a civil debt collection action in the Justice Court of Las Vegas Township (the "Justice Court"). 4 JA 596, 609.

III. NCA's members are required to hire an attorney to prosecute their claims in Justice Court.

NCA's members are not individuals, but rather are entities that are expressly prohibited from appearing in Justice Court without representation by an attorney that is licensed to practice law in Nevada. Justice Court of Las Vegas Township Rule ("JCR") 16; 4 JA 596, 609-10. Specifically, JCR 16 states:

> **Appearances in proper person**. Unless appearing by an attorney regularly admitted to practice law in Nevada and in good standing, no entry of appearance or subsequent document purporting to be signed by any party to an action shall be recognized or given any force or effect unless the same shall be notarized, or signed with an unsworn declaration pursuant to NTS 53.045, by the party signing the same. Corporations and limited liability corporations (LLC) shall be represented by an attorney.

As such, any time an NCA member commences a civil action to recover a debt, it is forced to retain an attorney to file, litigate, and recover monies in a collection action in Justice Court. 4 JA 596-97, 610. Because NCA's members are forced to retain counsel, they are forced to incur significant attorney's fees to: (a) prepare and file the complaint, (b) litigate the case to judgment, and (c) attempt to collect upon that judgment. 4 JA 597, 610. Notably, JCR 16 does not merely apply to licensed debt collectors, but to <u>any</u> entity (including a primary creditor) seeking redress in Justice Court, no matter how large or small. *See* JCR 16.

IV. The ability to collect reasonable attorney's fees is imperative in Small Dollar Debt cases because the amount of attorney's fees incurred is almost always more than the debt being collected.

Generally speaking, Nevada follows the "American Rule," under which each party is responsible for paying its own attorney's fees. However, attorney's fees may be awarded to a prevailing party if allowed by contract, statute, or other rule of law. See Albios v. Horizon Communities, Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022, 1028 (2006). Nevada courts have always served as a trusted "gatekeeper" for requests for attorney's fees by prevailing parties and have dutifully exercised their inherent judicial authority when assessing the reasonableness of attorney's fees awarded in civil cases. Indeed, it cannot reasonably be disputed that the Justice Court has traditionally been extremely diligent, careful, and prudent in its role adjudicating claims for attorney's fees in civil cases. 4 JA 597, 610. Moreover, Nevada has expressly recognized the importance of awarding reasonable attorney's fees in Small Dollar Debt cases. For example, NRS 18.010(2)(a) allows prevailing parties to recover reasonable attorney's fees in all cases in which the amount recovered is less than \$20,000.00. NRS Chapter 69, which governs justice courts in Nevada, expressly authorizes an award of reasonable attorney's fees—taxed as costs—to prevailing parties. NRS 69.030. Nevada has numerous other fee shifting rules, including offers of judgment under Justice Court Rule of Civil Procedure 68

("JCRCP"), and statutory liens, such as mechanic's liens and attorney's liens, including the following:

- a. Offers of Judgment—JCRCP 68
- b. Mechanic's Liens—NRS 108.237(1) and NRS 108.239(9)(b);
- c. Attorney's Liens—NRS 18.015(1);
- d. Homeowner's Associations—NRS 116.4117(4);
- e. Justice Court Actions-NRS 69.030;
- f. Appeals from Justice Court-NRS 69.050;
- g. Arbitrations—NRS 38.243(3);
- h. Fees governed by agreement, express or implied—NRS 18.010(1);
- Actions when the prevailing party has recovered less than \$20,000—
 NRS 18.010(2); and
- j. Landlord/Tenant—NRS 118A.515.

The reason for these rules is obvious—Nevada has a long standing and timehonored policy of awarding attorney's fees in certain cases, including Justice Court collection matters, <u>because Small Dollar Debt cases are cost prohibitive if</u> <u>prevailing parties are unable to recover their reasonable attorney's fees</u>. In the lower court, NCA specifically argued that A.B. 477 conflicts with these other feeshifting rules and statutes. 1 JA 78-79; 5 JA 729; 7 JA 1074-75, 1092; 8 JA 1301. For example, A.B. 477 effectively prohibits creditors from using an offer of judgment under JCRCP 68 as a settlement tool because the creditor is still capped at 15% of fees regardless. Unfortunately, however, the lower court refused to address these conflicts in any way. *See* 8 JA 1335-50.

As this Court is also well aware, the practice of law is a specialized profession, worthy of appropriate compensation. According to a U.S. Consumer Law Attorney Fee Survey Report, the average hourly rate for a consumer attorney in Las Vegas in 2015 was \$420.00, and the average hourly rate for a paralegal in Las Vegas in 2015 was \$144.00. 3 JA 399. According to the December 2017 issue of Communique, the publication of the Clark County Bar Association, rates for Nevada attorneys have been approved by courts as high as \$750.00 per hour, including rates as high as \$350.00 per hour for senior associates. 4 JA 424-532. Given these high hourly rates in the market, the attorney's fees that accrue in Small Dollar Debt consumer cases will often exceed the amount of the unpaid debt. 4 JA 597, 610. That being said, NCA's members are aware that, when seeking an award of attorney's fees in a civil action, the attorney's fees sought must be reasonable and must also satisfy the socalled "Brunzell factors" articulated in Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).¹ 4 JA 597, 610. In addition, when seeking an award of fees, counsel for NCA's members are bound by Nevada Rule of Professional

¹ Technically, in Justice Courts, claims for attorney's fees are not awarded as fees. Rather, they are taxed as "costs" against the losing party. *See* NRS 69.030. As such, A.B. 477 should not even be applied to limit fees in justice courts.

Conduct 1.5, which prohibits the charging of unreasonable fees. 4 JA 597, 610. Therefore, in addition to the Justice Court acting as a gatekeeper for reviewing claims for attorney's fees, counsel who submit those applications are ethically bound to act reasonably and by binding Nevada Supreme Court precedent that controls the methodology for an award of fees.

V. A.B. 477 significantly (and arbitrarily) caps recoverable attorney's fees in debt collection cases, thereby making Small Dollar Debt cases cost prohibitive.

In the 2019 legislative session, the Nevada State Legislature enacted A.B. 477, which was designed principally to govern the accrual of interest in consumer form contracts and consumer debts. 4 JA 598-99, 611-12. A.B. 477 was codified in Title 8 of the NRS and was titled the Consumer Protection from the Accrual of Predatory Interest After Default Act.² *See id.* The stated purpose of A.B. 477 is to protect consumers and "must be construed as a consumer protection statute for all purposes." 4 JA 534; NRS 97B.020.

Relevant here, A.B. 477 arbitrarily limits the recovery of attorney's fees in any action involving the collection of any consumer debt to no more than fifteen percent (15%) of the unpaid principal amount of the debt, and only if there is an express written agreement for the recovery of attorney's fees. NRS 97B.160. Specifically, Section 18 of A.B. 477 provides:

² A.B. 477 has now been codified as NRS Chapter 97B.

If the plaintiff is the prevailing party in any action to collect a consumer debt, the plaintiff is entitled to collect attorney's fees only if the consumer form contract or other document evidencing the indebtedness sets forth an obligation of the consumer to pay such attorney's fee[s] and subject to the following conditions:

- a. If a consumer form contract or other document evidencing indebtedness provides for attorney's fees in some specific percentage, such provision and obligation is valid and enforceable <u>for an amount not to exceed 15 percent of the amount of the debt</u>, excluding attorney's fees and collection costs.
- b. If a consumer form contract or other document evidencing indebtedness provides for the payment of reasonable attorney's fees by the debtor, without specifying any specific percentage, such provision must be construed to mean <u>the lesser of 15</u> <u>percent of the amount of the debt</u>, excluding attorney's fees and collection rate for such cases multiplied by the amount of time reasonably expended to obtain the judgment.

4 JA 537; NRS 97B.160 (emphasis added). Rather than scale the attorney's fees to the amount of the unpaid debt, or even to an amount that is "reasonable," A.B. 477 imposes an arbitrary 15% cap regardless of the amount of the unpaid principal. *Id.* This cap also purports to apply regardless of the amount of work expended by a prevailing plaintiff to obtain a judgment, including, drafting a complaint, litigating and obtaining a judgment (by default judgment, summary judgment, or trial), and then collecting on that judgment. A.B. 477 imposes a fee cap of 15% on the amount of the debt even when a party wishes to invoke its right to a jury trial under the Seventh Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 3 of the Nevada Constitution. 4 JA 599, 611-12.

In stark contrast, Section 19 of A.B. 477 expressly provides that a <u>debtor</u> in an action involving the collection of consumer debt may receive any attorney fees that are considered reasonable, <u>without any cap, restriction, or limitation</u>. Specifically, Section 19 provides:

> If the debtor is the prevailing party in any action to collect a consumer debt, the debtor is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees. The amount of the debt that the creditor sought may not be a factor in determining the reasonableness of the award.

4 JA 538; NRS 97B.170.

Sections 18 and 19 of A.B. 477 were enacted with <u>zero</u> evidentiary support. 4 JA 684. In support of the bill, Peter Goatz offered written testimony containing his own anecdotal description of <u>only two instances</u> in which the attorney's fees sought by creditors were, in his subjective opinion, excessive.³ 4 JA 684. Importantly, Mr. Goatz did not specifically identify those cases or offer any details from those cases. *Id.* There was no empirical data or objective proof as to whether unreasonable fees were being sought or awarded by the Justice Court on a regular basis. *Id.* There was no attempt to even demonstrate the existence of an actual problem that needed to be resolved by the Legislature. *Id.* No thought was given as to how Sections 18 and 19 would effectively deprive creditors and debt collectors from access to justice courts. *Id.* And, significantly, there was no discussion

³ Mr. Goatz is an attorney for the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada. 4 JA 684.

whatsoever as to why the attorney's fee cap was set at the arbitrary amount of 15%, as opposed to some other percentage. *Id.* It is literally a number grabbed out of thin air, making the amount of the cap hopelessly random.

Equally arbitrary are the exemptions from A.B. 477. Remarkably, banks and other financial institutions, including **payday lenders**, are completely exempt from the attorney's fee cap.⁴ 4 JA 537-38; NRS 97B.090. In other words, while small businesses and debt collectors have their attorney's fees capped when collecting a consumer debt, banks and payday lenders have no such limitation. These arbitrary exemptions highlight the absurdities created by A.B. 477. For example, consider the following hypothetical:

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