IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NEVADA COLLECTORS ASSOCIATION, a Nevada non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

v.

SANDY O'LAUGHLIN, in her official capacity as Commissioner of the State of Nevada Department of Business Industry and Financial Institution Division; STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS DIVISION; JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP; DOE DEFENDANTS 1 through 20; and ROE ENTITY DEFENDANTS 1 through 20, Electronically Filed Nov 08 2021 11:59 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court CASE NO. 81930

Respondents.

APPEAL

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

⁵ See e.g., Jacoby & Meyers, LLP v. Presiding Justices, 852 F.3d 178, 181, 191–92 (2d Cir. 2017) (concluding that New York law, which "prohibits non-attorneys from investing in law firms ... easily pass[es] muster under rational basis review" because "the regulations preclude the creation of incentives for attorneys to violate ethical norms, such as those requiring attorneys to put their clients' interests foremost"); Nat'l. Ass'n. for the Advancement of Multijurisdiction Practice v. Berch, 773 F.3d 1037, 1047 (9th Cir. 2014) (finding a reciprocal bar admissions rule, which limited admission by lawyers in states that also allowed Arizona lawyers to gain admission by motion, was a reasonable time, place and manner restriction to satisfy any Free Speech Clause challenge); Nat'l. Ass'n. for the Advancement of Multijurisdiction Practice v. Castille, 799 F.3d 216, 221 (3d Cir. 2015) (holding a similar Pennsylvania rule to be rationally related to state's legitimate interest in securing favorable treatment for attorneys admitted in Pennsylvania); King v. Governor of New Jersey, 767 F.3d 216, 229-31 (3d Cir. 2008) (finding due process case challenges to bar admission challenges on First Amendment grounds are decided by the same rational basis standard of review); Giannini v. Real, 911 F.2d 354, 358 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding that "allowing California to set its own bar examination standards is rationally related to the legitimate government needs to ensure the quality of attorneys within the state").

In addition, in the case of <u>Paciulan v. George</u>, 38 F.Supp.2d 1128 (N.D.Cal. 1999) a claim was brought challenging the constitutionality of a state court rule limiting *pro hac vice* admission to nonresidents licensed in other states. The court found that this rule did not deny the plaintiffs "meaningful access to the courts." <u>Id.</u> at 1138. The court noted that the plaintiffs may still bring their claims in California courts as litigants; they simply may not bring claims as lawyers without first satisfying California's rules of admission to the state bar. <u>Id.</u> NCA likewise can still bring claims in the Las Vegas Justice Court. They must simply comply with the long-standing rule that a corporation cannot represent itself and must retain a licensed attorney to represent it.

The myriad of cases that have upheld various state bar requirements to enable attorneys to practice law in state courts or regulations impacting attorney's freedom of association are analogous to NCA's attack on JCR 16--which requires corporations to make appearances in Justice Court through licensed attorneys. The incidental impact upon fundamental First Amendment rights is too insubstantial to trigger strict scrutiny.⁶ The pertinent question here is not whether requiring

⁶ As the Supreme Court explained in <u>Ohralik v. Ohio State Bar Ass'n</u>, 436 U.S. 447, 98 S.Ct. 1925 (1978) when upholding an anti-solicitation rule to a First Amendment attack, "[a] lawyer's procurement of remunerative employment is a subject only marginally affected with First Amendment concerns. It falls within the state's proper sphere of economic and professional regulation." <u>Id.</u> at 459.

corporations to appear through attorneys in Justice Court impacts the fundamental right of having access to the courts. The pertinent question is instead whether there is a fundamental right for a corporation to appear in a court *pro se* or without being represented by a licensed lawyer or whether the rule places a "severe burden" on access to the court. It clearly does not.

In the instant case, NCA can litigate claims in the small claims court without an attorney. <u>See</u> NRS 73.012 ("A corporation, partnership, business trust, estate, trust, association or any other nongovernmental legal or commercial entity may be represented by its director, officer or employee in an action mentioned or covered by this chapter."). NCA can also choose to litigate small value cases in Justice Court with an attorney with the ability to limit the attorney's fees to 15% of the case value per Section 18 of A.B. 477. NCA has access to two different courts in Clark County to litigate the claims it has an alleged interest in prosecuting. These small limitations are, to be sure, not so onerous to render NCA's ability to obtain a remedy in either court wholly ineffective.

The rule requiring corporations to appear in Justice Court through counsel no more impairs fundamental right of court access than does the rules of ethics, payment of filing fees and limitation periods impair upon an attorney's or a litigants right to have access to a court. The Justice Court has cited numerous cases setting forth the reasonably and widely accepted ethical reasons that requires licensed lawyers in good standing to represent corporations. The Nevada Supreme Court regulations of the practice of law are of course constitutional and the resulting restrictions do not rise to the level of denial of access for either lawyers or litigants. The requirement that corporations appear through duly licensed lawyers is of course no different. Because JCR 16 regulates only corporations making appearances in Justice Court through licensed attorneys and does not close the courthouse doors to corporations or limit what they can or cannot say or claim, Rule 16 does not conflict with the First Amendment or substantially burden any fundamental right.

The bottom line is NCA has the same right of every other corporate litigant to prosecute claims in the Las Vegas Justice Court. It must simply comply with Nevada rules of ethics and the well-established law from American jurisprudence to have an attorney make appearances and submit documents and so that there is reasonable and ethical accountability under Rule 11. The inability to appear *pro se* is no more a denial of access to the courts than not being allowed to appear through an unlicensed or disbarred lawyer denies a litigant constitutional access.

///

E. The Justice Court Provided NCA Reasonable Court Access.

In sum, the Justice Court has not denied NCA "a reasonably adequate opportunity to present" their case to the Justice Court. <u>Lewis v. Casey</u>, 518 U.S. 343, 351, 116 S.Ct. 2174 (1995). NCA is simply not barred from filing cases in Justice Court and the rule also does not limit access to the court based upon any class based distinction or impose speech content limitations. Instead, the rule merely restricts the manner corporations can appear in court to obtain a remedy from the court. This long-standing requirement does not fall short of the constitutional line.

II.NCA Did Not Suffer an Actual Injury Arising from a MeritoriousClaim to Be Denied Access to the Courts.

The district court correctly held that NCA failed to allege that it was deprived of an actual injury relating to a specific case before the Justice Court to facially state a plausible claim for denial of access to the courts. The United States Supreme Court reaffirmed that a constitutional prerequisite for a denial of access to the courts claims is an "actual injury" suffered by the §1983 plaintiff. <u>See</u> <u>Lewis</u>, 518 U.S. at 351-52, 116 S. Ct. At 2180 (holding to have standing to assert a claim of denial of access to the courts a plaintiff must show an "actual injury"); <u>Christopher v. Harbury</u>, 536 U.S. 403, 122 S.Ct. 2179 (2002) (dismissing complaint because the plaintiff did not allege facts that the defendant's misconduct caused her to lose a 'nonfrivolous' or 'arguable' claim for which she has no comparable remedy through a future suit). To show an actual injury, the litigant thus must show that his pursuit of a legal claim was hindered or prevented. See Id. An actual injury depriving a litigant of access to the courts only exists if the party alleges and demonstrates that a non-frivolous legal claim has been frustrated or has been impeded. Lewis, 518 U.S. at 353, 116 S. Ct. at 2181. NCA further failed to allege the Justice Court proximately caused the alleged violation of NCA's rights, "[t]he touchstone ... [for which] is foreseeability." Phillips v. Hust, 477 F.3d 1070, 1077 (9th Cir. 2007). The failure to set forth an actual injury relating to a specific claim adjudicated by the Justice Court is fatal to the cause of action pled against the Justice Court.

First, NCA's alleged theory of recovery generally finds no shelter under the Fourteenth Amendment as alleged in the FAC. [JA7 1105-08]. The First Amendment guarantees the right to "petition the Government for a redress of grievances." U.S. Const. amend. I. It is well settled that the right to access to the courts is subsumed within the right to petition. <u>See Bill Johnson's Rests., Inc. v.</u> <u>N.L.R.B</u>, 461 U.S. 731, 741, 103 S.Ct. 2361 (1983). Thus, meaningful access to the courts is guaranteed by the Constitution, <u>see Barnett v. Centoni</u>, 31 F.3d 813, 815 (9th Cir. 1994), however, it "is subsumed under the First Amendment right to petition the government for redress of grievances." <u>Sorranno's Gasco, Inc. v.</u> <u>Morgan</u>, 874 F.2d 1310, 1314 (9th Cir. 1989). NCA has thus not pled a viable claim for relief for a violation of the Substantive Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

Regardless, NCA has not pled facts stating that it was denied specific relief in an actual case to state a cognizable denial of access claim regardless of the source of the right. "[A]ccess to the courts means the opportunity to prepare, serve and file whatever pleadings or other documents are necessary or appropriate in order to commence or prosecute court proceedings affecting one's personal liberty [or property rights]." Lewis, 518 U.S. at 384, 116 S.Ct. 2174. The Supreme Court in the case of <u>Christopher v. Harbury</u>, supra explained that to demonstrate actual injury for the purposes of an access to courts claim, "the underlying cause of action and its lost remedy must be addressed by allegations in the complaint sufficient to give fair notice to a defendant" and must be "described well enough to apply the 'nonfrivolous' test and show that the 'arguable' nature of the underlying claim is more than hope." Thus, a claim for violation of this right accrues only when and if plaintiff suffers an actual injury. Harbury, 536 U.S. at 415, 122 S.Ct. 2179; Lewis, 518 U.S. at 351, 354, 116 S.Ct. 2174. In other words,

a claim for deprivation of the constitutional right of access to the courts must allege both the underlying cause of action, whether that action is merely anticipated or already lost, and the official acts that frustrated the litigation. <u>Harbury</u>, 536 U.S. at 415–16, 122 S.Ct. 2179.

Claims for denial of access to the courts may arise from the frustration or hindrance of "a litigating opportunity yet to be gained" (forward-looking access claim) or from the loss of a meritorious suit that can not now be tried (backward-looking claim). <u>Harbury</u>, 536 U.S. at 412–415, 122 S.Ct. 2179. For access to the court's claims, the plaintiff must show: (1) the loss of a 'nonfrivolous' or 'arguable' underlying claim; (2) the official acts frustrating the litigation; and (3) a remedy that may be awarded as recompense but that is not otherwise available in a future suit. <u>Id.</u> at 413–14, 122 S.Ct. 2179.

In addition, under <u>Harbury</u>'s second element, NCA must show that Justice Court Rule 16 frustrated NCA's attempt to present a specific and colorable claim for relief. In other words, as in any § 1983 case, NCA must show that the alleged violation of his rights was proximately caused by the Justice Court. <u>See Crumpton</u> <u>v. Gates</u>, 947 F.2d 1418, 1420 (9th Cir.1991); <u>Harper v. City of Los Angeles</u>, 533 F.3d 1010, 1026 (9th Cir. 2008). The touchstone of proximate cause in a § 1983 action is foreseeability. <u>See Tahoe–Sierra Pres. Council, Inc. v. Tahoe Regional</u> <u>Planning Agency</u>, 216 F.3d 764, 784–85 (9th Cir.2000). Finally, the third element requires NCA show it has no other remedy than the relief available via this suit for denial of access to the courts. <u>Phillips</u>, 477 F.3d at 1078–79.

NCA has not alleged facts that fill the measure of a denial of access to the courts claim for relief pursuant to Section 1983. NCA's argument that it must now retain counsel for cases it chooses to file in the Las Vegas Justice Court, but is unable to recover all attorney fees paid to that counsel for some future suit, clearly falls short of the mark to show the foreseeable loss of an arguable underlying claim. Justice Court Rule 16, like the Nevada law it is predicated upon, existed long before the passage of the legislation NCA also contends is unconstitutional. The event that NCA alleges proximately caused it harm is thus the Nevada Legislature's passage of A.B. 477 in the 2019 legislative session. Hence, NCA has no plausible argument that the Justice Court frustrated a foreseeable meritorious claim belonging to NCA. The foreseeability requirement for an "actual injury" is clearly not met because the current Justice Court rule has been in existence for many years and so the Justice Court could not have engaged in foreseeable conduct that foreclosed a remedy possessed by NCA.

In addition, NCA has not alleged that it prevailed in an action in Justice Court and then had a motion for attorney fees denied. There is no actual injury.

NCA has alleged a speculative one, even assuming for purposes of argument that a Court denies constitutional access to the courts when limiting recovery of fees per statutory directive. The case of Delew v. Wagner, 143 F.3d 1219 (9th Cir. 1988) is illustrative on the point that NCA must plead facts of an actual injury that demonstrates it was denied a state court remedy in a specific case before having standing to pursue this federal claim. In <u>Delew</u>, the Ninth Circuit agreed with this Court's dismissal of the §1983 claims; however, the Court held that the dismissal would be without prejudice as premature "because the Delews' wrongful death action remains pending in state court, [and] it is impossible to determine" whether they had an ineffective state court remedy. <u>Id.</u> at 1223. The Court in doing so relied upon the reasoning in the case of Swekel v. City of River Rouge, 119 F.3d 1259 (6th Cir. 1997). In Swekel, the Sixth Circuit rejected an access to courts claim because the plaintiff had yet to file suit in state court: "Before filing an 'access to courts' claim, a plaintiff must make some attempt to gain access to the courts; otherwise, how is this court to assess whether such access was in fact 'effective' and 'meaningful'?" Id. at 1264; see also Lynch v. Barrett, 703 F.3d 1153, 1157 (10th Cir. 2013) (concluding denial-of-access claim ripened once plaintiff lost underlying lawsuit); Karim-Panahi v. Los Angeles Police Dept., 839 F.2d 621, 625 (9th Cir. 1988) (dismissing as unripe a § 1983 claim because

whether the plaintiff has a federally cognizable cover-up claim would depend on whether the plaintiff lost the pending state law suit and, thereafter, whether the plaintiff could show that the acts of the alleged cover-up defendants were causally connected with a failure to succeed in that lawsuit).

The FAC is barren of any allegations that NCA filed a meritorious action in the Las Vegas Justice Court. [JA7 1097-1111]. NCA has not alleged that it obtained a judgment in that case. NCA further has not alleged that it moved and prevailed on a motion for attorney fees and NCA has not alleged that the awarded amount was so markedly reduced to what it was entitled to obtain that it rendered NCA's access to the courts wholly ineffective. NCA has thus failed to allege an actual injury and so, at a very minimum, the claim for denial of access to the courts is not ripe and should be dismissed without prejudice.

There are thus no facts pled suggesting the Justice Court frustrated an underlying claim possessed by NCA and in doing so caused NCA to be wholly denied seeking relief in a subsequent action. The first and only cause of action against the Justice Court hence could not withstand Rule 12(b)(5) scrutiny. Therefore, the district court correctly dismissed the denial of court access claim against the Justice Court with prejudice.

///

III. The Justice Court Did Not Deny NCA Equal Protection under the Law.

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